RECEIVED

Aug 30 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SAMUEL TERRELL RISER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000743

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred allowing a law enforcement witness to give opinion testimony and admitting photographs during his testimony which depicted trajectory rods placed at the crime scene where the state failed to lay the Rule 702, SCRE, foundation for the testimony and where the photographs and testimony while potentially relevant were substantially more prejudicial than probative, risked confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury in violation of Rule 403, SCRE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 22, 2022, a Spartanburg County grand jury indicted appellant for attempted murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and malicious injury to personal property. R. 401. On April 24, 2023, appellant's case was called to trial before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Ricky Harris. The state was represented by assistant solicitors, Candace Clark and Spenser Smith. R. 1.

On April 27, 2023, the jury found appellant guilty as indicted. R. 393, ll. 11-24. Judge Sprouse sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of life without parole for attempted murder, thirty days for malicious injury to personal property, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 398, ll. 15-21.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*; see also *State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred allowing a law enforcement witness to give opinion testimony and admitting photographs during his testimony which depicted trajectory rods placed at the crime scene where the state failed to lay the Rule 702, SCRE, foundation for the testimony and where the photographs and testimony while potentially relevant were substantially more prejudicial than probative, risked confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury in violation of Rule 403, SCRE.

Relevant facts

Appellant and Shaleayer (Shae) Wilson met in August 2021, and began dating the following month. R. 170, ll. 19-25. Early in December 2021, the two mutually decided to end the romantic relationship. R. 172, ll. 6-14. On December 21, 2021, the two had been texting throughout the day and appellant came over to Shae's apartment to talk. R. 172, ll. 17-21. They argued. R. 172, l. 21; 218, l. 11. Shae's next-door neighbors heard the argument and came to check on Shae and her children. R. 173, ll. 9-13. Appellant left the apartment. R. 173, ll. 15-16; 276, l. 3-16. Shae claimed appellant returned five minutes later and shot her multiple times. R. 177, ll. 17-19; 179, l. 1-180, l. 16. Shae sustained gunshot wounds to her right arm, right thigh, right breast, right hand, and a graze wound in her right shoulder. R. 283, ll. 1-5.

Shae's next-door neighbors Heaven and Keanna Marks testified they went to check on Shae because they heard arguing. R. 115, l. 1-16; 138, ll. 1-25. Heaven testified appellant left Shae's apartment before her. R. 115, ll. 17-25. Keanna testified she did not hear any gunshots after she and Heaven returned to their apartment. R. 143, ll. 20-22. Keanna claimed that when Shae came over not long after they had checked on her Shae and her two children told her appellant had shot her. R. 140, ll. 22-23; 142, ll. 13-23.

Deputy Jeffrey Dail testified on behalf of the state. R. 60-107. Dail responded to the apartment complex the evening of the incident. R. 62, ll. 20-22. Dail testified he was trained to process a crime scene by his superior Sergeant Sean Nix and stated he took a seven-day class in North Carolina on “crime scenes, photographing, and collecting.” R. 62, ll. 16-19.

During Dail’s testimony the solicitor offered state’s exhibits 29-57, photographs of the scene in evidence. R. 70, 18-23; 73, ll. 7-16.¹ The solicitor asked Dail to explain the function of a trajectory rod. R. 70, l. 24. Dail answered,

I’ve got 2-, 3-, and 5-foot fiberglass rods. We place them in areas that we believe are projectile holes. We - - if it is a - - single hole, we do not put it in because the rod will not sit and show a true trajectory because it has on balance point. If we have a

R. 70, l. 25-71, l. 5

Defense counsel objected. He argued Dail’s testimony went beyond explaining that he took the photographs and asserted there had been no foundation laid for expert testimony. R. 71, ll. 6-11. The solicitor responded they did not intend to introduce expert testimony. R. 71, ll. 12-13. The trial court ruled if the state was eliciting “technical” testimony, more foundation was necessary. R. 71, ll. 14-17.

The solicitor asked Dail if he had done “some training on using trajectory rods.” Dail responded he had some training through the sheriff’s office but admitted he was not an expert. R. 71, ll. 19-23. The solicitor again asked Dail to explain the function of a trajectory rod, and defense counsel objected again. R. 71, l. 24-72, l. 2. Defense counsel contended this was an area of specialized knowledge and that Dail admitted he was not qualified to explain. Counsel asserted Dail’s testimony should be limited to stating he took the photographs. R. 72, ll. 1-8.

¹ The contested photographs, state’s exhibits 41; 42; 44-47; 52-57, photographs of the scene are on file with the Court.

The court overruled defense counsel's objection stating, "the witness can testify based on his training of what he used the rods for without getting into areas requiring an expert." R. 72, ll. 9-12.

Dail's testimony continued. He told the jury trajectory rods are used to show the believed path of a bullet when it goes through a wall, board, car, or other things of that nature. He stated that it gives law enforcement "an idea" of the "projection" of the bullet. He conceded he did not know exactly where the shooter was standing but said it was an estimation. R. 72, ll. 15-25. When the state moved to admit state's exhibits 29-57, photographs into evidence defense counsel objected to the admission of all photographs that included trajectory rods and requested to take up the matter outside the presence of the jury. R. 73, ll. 11-16.

Counsel argued the photographs depicting trajectory rods should be excluded because Dail admitted he was not an expert in "bullet trajectory analysis," and that regardless counsel was not aware that any such analysis was done in the case. R. 73, l. 22-74, l. 7. Counsel averred the state had thus far failed to lay a proper foundation for Dail's testimony and that the photographs were inadmissible under Rule 403, SCRE. R. 74, ll. 8-21. He further posited that while testimony regarding trajectory rods might be relevant the probative value was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, and misleading the jury. Counsel maintained that the jury would be forced to speculate because the contested photographs were without context as to what the rods were and how they were used in this case. R. 74, l. 17-75, l. 8.

The solicitor insisted they did not intend to have Dail admitted as an expert. R. 75, ll. 11-12. They argued they needed the photographs to show there were bullets going in three different rooms and the evidence was not offered to show appellant was in a certain place and the

evidence was a merely a “demonstrative aid.” R. 75, ll. 12-22. The solicitor said Dail had some training in to placing the rods, but reiterated Dail would not be offering expert opinion. R. 75, ll. 22-25.² The court noted Dail was not an expert but had some training and directed the solicitor to provide more foundation regarding Dail’s training. R. 78, ll. 2-6.

Dail’s testimony continued before the jury. Dail testified early in his career he “sided” Sergeant Sean Nix. Dail stated that on his first day trajectory rods were used at a crime scene. R. 79, ll. 2-9. He explained Nix showed him how to place the rods to get an “overall idea of the projectile trajectory.” R. 79, ll. 9-19. Dail testified he placed trajectory rods in other cases. R. 79, ll. 20-22. Dail stated that the purpose of placing the rods is to demonstrate the believed direction of the bullet. R. 80, ll. 3-7. He claimed walls were the easiest surface for trajectory rods to be placed in. Dail testified in this case rods were placed in the front door, dining room table, and walls. R. 80, ll. 8-23. Dail stated the surfaces in this case were easy to place the trajectory rods in because “the hole is usually pretty clean.” He went on to claim the hole was true to size for the projectile. R. 80, l. 24-81, l. 5.

Defense counsel objected again stating the testimony had gone beyond Dail’s training and contended Dail did not have sufficient training for this testimony and asked for the jury to be removed to make further argument. R. 81, ll. 6-15. The court overruled the objection permitting no further argument. R. 81, l. 18-127, l. 9.

Later in Dail’s testimony he referred to trajectory rods placed in the front door in state’s exhibit 41, photograph. R. 86, ll. 14-24. The solicitor asked Dail what was important to note about the door and the trajectory rods. R. 86, l. 14-87, l. 1. Defense counsel objected to Dail

² During cross-examination Dail admitted again that he was not an expert in this area and said that he shadowed Sergeant Nix for a few weeks. However, Dail conceded he did not know what type of training Nix had, if any. R. 106, ll. 5-24.

being asked to give an opinion and conclusion and the court sustained. R. 87, ll. 2-5. However, Dail answered that it was law enforcement's belief that the door was open. R. 87, ll. 7-8. Defense counsel objected again, and the court instructed that the solicitor lay a foundation for the question. R. 87, ll. 9-13. Dail continued discussing the contested photographs and the trajectory rods depicted in the photographs. R. 87-90.

Discussion

The trial court failed to hold a *Daubert/Council*³ hearing and failed to conduct an on-the-record Rule 403 balancing test as required by *State v. Phillips*, 430 SC 319, 844 S.E.2d 651 (2020). As such the trial court failed to exercise its discretion in the admission of Deputy Jeffrey Dail's opinion testimony and the admission of the contested photographs depicting trajectory rods.

“If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.” Rule 701, SCRE.

“If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” Rule 702, SCRE. “When admitting scientific evidence under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial judge must find the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.” *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518

³ *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993); *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999).

(1999). “[I]f the evidence is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial judge should determine if its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect.” *Id.*; Rule 403, SCRE.

Deputy Jeffrey Dail did not possess the requisite qualifications to explain trajectory rods or give an opinion on bullet trajectory paths in this case. The trial court erred allowing Dail’s testimony and the admission of the photographs depicting trajectory rods at the scene.

In *Hamrick v. State*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held the trial court reversibly erred by characterizing the police officer’s testimony as lay opinion, failing to make necessary findings that the officer was qualified to testify as an expert witness, and admitting officer’s opinion testimony as to whether defendant struck victim within construction zone. 426 SC 638, 828 S.E.2d 596 (2019). In that case the defendant was convicted of felony driving under the influence resulting in great bodily injury. *Id.*

In that case the Court concluded that because the officer gave opinion testimony on the subject of accident reconstruction and the state failed to lay Rule 702, SCRE, foundation the admission of his testimony was error. *Id.* at 650, 828 S.E.2d at 602. First, the Court found the officer’s testimony was incorrectly deemed “lay” opinion where the officer testified as to accident reconstruction which “require[d] expertise.” The Court also found the state sought to establish the officer’s qualifications as an expert and the court erred by characterizing it as lay testimony. *Id.* at 648-49, 828 S.E.2d at 601. Next the Court found the trial court failed to make on the record findings that the state had established the foundation required by Rule 702, SCRE. *Id.* at 649, 828 S.E.2d at 601-02. The Court found the officer “did not possess the necessary qualifications to give an opinion on accident reconstruction.” *Id.* The Court reasoned that accident reconstruction is a “highly technical and specialized field in which experts employ principles of engineering, physics, and other knowledge to formulate opinions as to the

movements and interactions of vehicles and people, under circumstances lay people—even trained officers—simply cannot understand.” *Id.*

In *State v. Phillips*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held the trial court abused its discretion in admitting state’s DNA analyst expert testimony and the error was not harmless. 430 SC 319, 844 S.E.2d 651 (2020). In that case defendant was convicted of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. *Id.* In that case the Court found the state failed to lay the foundation so that the trial court could meaningfully exercise its discretion. *Id.* at 340-41, 844 S.E.2d at 662.

In that case the Court found that “because the trial court did not require the state to present the factual and scientific foundation for” the testimony “in a *Daubert/Council* hearing before she testified to the jury” the Court conducted the analysis for the first time on appeal. *Id.* at 341, 844 S.E.2d at 662. The Court held the trial court should also have “conducted an on-the-record” Rule 403, balancing test. The Court found the root of the error was based in “a series of failures by the [s]tate,” the state failed to: (1) present testimony of the expert at a hearing where the court was to consider the admissibility, (2) present a complete factual and scientific basis for the admission of the expert’s opinion, (3) explain to the jury complicated DNA concepts involved in the case, and (4) present correct information regarding DNA evidence. Additionally, the state misstated to both the court and jury that the defendant’s DNA was on the gun and in the jeans pocket. *Id.*

The Court concluded that if an objection is made the trial court must hold a *Daubert/Council* hearing, the proponent of the evidence must present the factual and scientific basis necessary to satisfy the foundational elements of Rule 702, and the trial court must conduct an on-the-record Rule 403 balancing test and make specific findings as to each contested element

or issue. *Id.* at 343, 844 S.E.2d at 663. The Court held that in this case the trial court's failure to do the above was an abuse of discretion. *Id.*

This case is similar to both *Hamrick* and *Phillips*. In both of those cases and here the subject matter of the contested evidence, here bullet trajectory analysis, required expertise. As in *Hamrick*, Dail's testimony was wrongly characterized as lay opinion. As in *Phillips*, here the state failed to: (1) present testimony of the expert at a hearing where the court could consider the admissibility, (2) present a complete factual and scientific basis for the admission of the expert's opinion, (3) explain to the jury bullet trajectory analysis, and (4) present correct information regarding placing trajectory rods and bullet trajectory analysis. As in *Phillips*, the state's failures and the trial court's error in failing to hold a *Daubert/Council* hearing or conduct an on the record Rule 403 balancing test and make specific findings was an abuse of discretion.

In *State v. Wallace* the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that "an 'unfair' ruling on expert testimony may or may not be outside a trial court's discretion," and ruled the witness was properly qualified as an expert in cell site location information. 440 S.C. 537, 892 S.E.2d 310 (2023). Wallace was convicted at trial of murder and kidnapping, and this Court affirmed in an unpublished opinion. *Id.* In that case state's witness, Investigator Dylan Hightower, was called as an expert witness. Hightower used cell sight location information to make a map showing the whereabouts of the defendant's phone during the time of the incident. *Id.* at 541, 892 S.E.2d at 312.

On appeal our Supreme Court considered whether Hightower was properly qualified under Rule 702, SCRE, to testify regarding the analysis of cell sight location information. *Id.* at 543, 892 S.E.2d at 313. The Court found the fact that Hightower was the solicitor's investigator was important, but standing alone, did not render him unqualified and was instead a credibility

matter for the jury to decide. *Id.* at 544, 892 S.E.2d at 314. The Court reasoned that the trial court’s analysis should be affected by the “complexity of the ‘scientific, technical, or . . . specialized knowledge’” for which the witness is testifying. *Id.* The Court found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion where it held a “robust” examination of Hightower and exercised its responsibility as gatekeeper. *Id.* at 549, 892 S.E.2d at 316.

Unlike *Wallace*, here the trial court did not qualify Dail as an expert under Rule 702, SCRE. Rather it was declared multiple times by the court, the state, and Dail himself, that Dail was in fact not an expert in bullet trajectory analysis. Yet the state continued eliciting questions that required specialized “knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education.” *See* Rule 702, SCRE. Moreover, there was inadequate examination of Dail’s qualifications to give testimony regarding trajectory rods.

Rather, the trial court overruled defense counsel’s numerous objections to the evidence without any analysis merely requesting the state offer more foundation, which the state never did. The foundation offered for this testimony was Dail’s assertion that he shadowed a superior, Sergeant Nix, who showed him how to place trajectory rods. Dail admitted he had no idea what Nix’s training was regarding trajectory rods.

The failure of the state to lay a proper foundation allowed the state to sneak in opinion testimony without an expert. The testimony offered in conjunction with the photographs were not merely perceptions observed by Dail but rather constituted opinions that require “special knowledge, skill, experience or training” to be properly made. *See* Rule 702, SCRE.

“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative

evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE.

The photographs without any frame of reference by an expert left the jury to speculate and conjecture about what the trajectory rods meant in the context of this crime scene. The photographs depict several trajectory rods placed throughout the apartment. Dail’s inadmissible testimony regarding the rods was confusing and misleading. He told the jury the rods were the believed path of the bullets, he testified regarding his method of placing the rods, and he described what surfaces were easiest for placing the trajectory rods. None of Dail’s testimony regarding trajectory rods was helpful to the jury in deciding any fact at issue. None of Dail’s testimony regarding trajectory rods was relevant to whether appellant shot Shae. Dail’s improper opinion testimony offered deficient and confusing information. While simultaneously the contested photographs depicted an overwhelming scene of information that the jury would have difficulty understanding without more. Even if the Court finds Dail’s testimony was admissible, the contested photographs were inadmissible where the probative value of the photographs was “substantially outweighed by danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury.” *See* Rule 403, SCRE.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing argument, appellant requests this Court reverse his conviction and remand his case for a new trial.



Sarah E. Shipe
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT