RECEIVED

Sep 19 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000743

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SAMUEL TERRELL RISER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia St.
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court abused its discretion by admitting crime scene photographs showing trajectory rods inserted into bullet impressions and corresponding testimony explaining what trajectory rods are without first qualifying the crime scene investigator as an expert witness.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Appellant Samuel Riser for attempted murder. Riser proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge, on April 24–27, 2023. Riser was convicted and sentenced to imprisonment for life without parole. This direct appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and Shae Wilson were in a relationship between August and December 2021. R. 170, ln. 18–25. On December 21, 2021, a couple of weeks after they broke up, Appellant went over to Shae’s apartment to talk. R.172, ln. 6–21. While there, Appellant and Shae got into an argument, which caused Keanna Marks and Heaven Marks, Shae’s neighbors, to come over and check on her. R. 173, ln. 9–17. Keanna and Heaven saw Appellant break the TV in Shae’s living room. R. 115; 138–139. Appellant then left Shae’s apartment. R. 176, ln. 14.

Appellant returned about five minutes later with a gun, called Shae a “bitch,” and began shooting her. R. 177 ln. 19; 179, ln. 1–6. Shae had been standing by the laundry room packing a bag when she was shot the first couple of times, which caused her to fall to the ground. R. 180, ln. 15–22. Shae’s two kids ran out from the back bedroom and all three of them fled out the front door. R. 181 ln. 16–24. Shae and her daughters ran to Keanna’s apartment and Heaven called 911. R. 118, ln. 1–3. While waiting for the ambulance, Shae and her daughters told Heaven that Appellant shot her. R. 119, ln. 5–8; 122, ln. 6–10. Shae arrived at the hospital with life-threatening injuries. R. 285, ln. 3–10. She had been shot nine times, “two wounds to the right arm, two wounds to the right thigh, two wounds to the right breast, two wounds to the right hand, and then a graze wound to the right shoulder.” R. 283.

Appellant’s own cousin, Dorian Riser, testified that on the night of the shooting Appellant showed up at his grandmother’s apartment, said nothing to his cousin, and then left after only a minute. R. 272, ln. 8–23. His grandmother’s apartment was in the same complex as Shae’s. R. 270. Later that evening, Appellant called Dorian and said “Cuz, I fucked up and I’ll call you back.” Dorian did not hear from Appellant again. R. 275, ln. 25–276, ln. 1–7.

The altercation was first reported to 911 as a disturbance at 9:23 p.m. R. 46, ln. 2–5. By 9:28 p.m., another 911 call came in which upgraded the initial report to a shooting. R. 46, ln. 14–17. Deputy Kevin Bowen had already responded to the initial disturbance call and was pulling into the apartment complex when the call was upgraded to a shooting. R. 48, ln. 24–25. After clearing the scene with another deputy, Bowen secured the crime scene until investigators arrived to begin collecting evidence. R. 52, ln. 11–12; 54, ln. 14–22.

Crime scene testimony.

Officer Jeffrey Dail arrived on scene and began his investigation by taking photographs and marking and collecting evidence. His direct supervisor Sergeant Nix trained him on how to process crime scenes, and he took a seven-day course on crime scenes, photographing, and collecting evidence. R. 62, ln. 16–19. When asked about the crime scene, he testified his initial observation was that it was extremely bloody, noting projectile holes in the door. Dail took numerous photos of the scene and the State introduced exhibits 18-57 as photographs taken by Dail. R. 65, ln. 12–15. The State had Dail identify the pictures in groups then admitted them to evidence starting with exhibits 18-28, which depict the apartment as soon as he got there. R. 65, ln. 22–24. Next the State asked Dail to identify exhibits 29-57 which depict the apartment with evidence placards and projectile trajectory rods. R. 70, ln. 21–23. The State asked Dail to explain what a trajectory rod is. Dail responded by saying “I’ve got 2-, 3-, and 5-foot fiberglass rods. We place them in areas that we believe are projectile holes. We – if it is a – a single hole, we do not put it in because the rod will not sit and show a true trajectory because it only has one balance point.” R. 70, ln. 25–71, ln. 1–4. At this point defense counsel objected stating that the State had not laid foundation for the witness to provide expert testimony. The court told the State that foundation needed to be laid if it plans to get into technical issues. R. 71, ln. 6–17. The State then

asked Dail if he had received training on trajectory rods to which he answered yes, through the Sheriff's office. R. 71, ln. 19–21. However, Dail agreed with the assistant solicitor that he is not an expert, he was just explaining what the rod is itself. R. 71, ln. 22–24.

Defense counsel objected again and argued Dail could testify to taking the pictures but not more. The Court overruled the objection and stated the witness could testify based on his training of what he used the rods for without getting into expertise areas. R. 72, ln. 1–12. Dail explained that the rods are used to show them the belief path of the projectile when it hits something. Dail stated the rods gave them an idea of the projection and even called it an estimation. R. 72, ln. 16–25. The State then moved to enter exhibits 29-57 into evidence, but the defense objected to the photos depicting the trajectory rods.

At this point, the court heard both sides' arguments outside the presence of the jury. R. 73, ln. 11–16. The court ruled that the State needed to lay more foundation and have the witness explain his training in placing the rods. R. 78. Thereafter, the jury was brought back into the courtroom and examination of Dail continued. R. 78.

Dail testified more about his training and experience with trajectory rod placement and stated that when he first began in the forensics unit, he observed Sergeant Nix for a couple of weeks and learned firsthand how to place the rods. He also testified that he has placed trajectory rods in numerous other cases, but he does not conduct an analysis and make conclusions on the trajectory after placement. R. 79. The purpose of the rods is to show the investigators a believed path for the projectile. R. 80. Dail continued explaining the types of surfaces that trajectory rods are used on and as he explained that the bullet hole sizes are usually true to size, defense counsel objected again on the grounds that Dail was moving beyond his experience. R. 81. The court overruled the objection allowing the witness to continue. R. 81. The State then moved to have

exhibits 29-57 entered into evidence, which defense objected to but was ultimately overruled again. R. 82. From there the State walked Dail through each exhibit and had him describe what was depicted in the photos.

When shown exhibit 41, Dail testified that there were multiple projectile holes in the front door, and the holes were confusing to him at first until he placed the trajectory rods. R. 86. When the State asked Deputy Dail to explain what was important about the rods placed in the door, defense counsel objected again arguing that the witness was asked to give opinions and conclusions. The court sustained the objection. R. 87. Defense objected yet again when Dail testified that he believed the door might have been open during the shooting. The State conceded that the testimony was not important and would move on. R. 87. From there, Deputy Dail only testified to the placement and presence of the trajectory rods in the rest of the exhibits.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court reviews the trial court's rulings on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Herrera, 425 S.C. 558, 562, 823 S.E.2d 923, 924 (2019). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. Id.

ARGUMENT

The police crime scene investigator was not required to be qualified as an expert in order to explain his use of trajectory rods to mark the location of bullet impacts because his testimony did not require scientific or technical knowledge, he did not offer an opinion, and his testimony was comprehensible to the average juror.

The trial court correctly admitted testimony and photographs regarding trajectory rods placed into bullet impressions at the scene of a shooting. The subject of the testimony was comprehensible to the average juror and did not require expertise. The crime scene investigator did not offer an opinion about how the shooting occurred; he only explained that he used to rods to mark the bullet impressions. In any case, Riser was not prejudiced because the investigator was in fact qualified, and the testimony did not affect the outcome of the case. This Court should affirm.

Rule 702, SCRE provides: “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” Thus the rule is applicable only when a witness offers “scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge.”

As discussed above, the crime scene investigator used trajectory rods to mark bullet impressions at the scene of this shooting. Riser objected, arguing the officer must first be qualified as an expert. Officer Dail candidly agreed he was not claiming to be an expert. R. 71. But the investigative technique he performed did

not require expertise. The jury did not need an expert to explain that a straight rod inserted into a wall with entry and exit bullet holes will show the trajectory of a projectile. Qualifying Dail as an expert would have lent his testimony the unwarranted “imprimatur of an expert,” and would not have benefitted Riser. See State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 109, 771 S.E.2d 336, 340 (2015).

Officer Dail did not offer an opinion about the significance of the trajectory of the bullets. The State made clear Dail was not offering any opinion about where Riser was standing when he fired the shots or the position of the gun. R. 72, 75. He again clarified that he was not making any “conclusions about the height of the shooter or where they were or anything like that[.]” R. 79–80.

Even if the testimony regarding the trajectory rods showed “specialized knowledge,” it was still very basic knowledge, and the officer was qualified to share it. He explained the procedure thus:

[I]n a wall or in an area you try to put the trajectory rod into the hole easy and smooth . . . and softly so you don't puncture a new hole through and then turn around and be able to find the hole on the opposite, if there is a hole on the opposite side. And at that time, you secure the rod in there by having it in two areas, so that it's not dangling and loose. And from there, just be able to photograph at different angles, so that way you can get [an] overall idea of the projectile trajectory that may or may not have hit that area.

R. 79.

When expert testimony is based on less complex knowledge, the trial court may find that the degree of qualification to satisfy Rule 702 is not as high. State v. Wallace, 440 S.C. 537, 545, 892 S.E.2d 310, 314 (2023). Placing rods in bullet holes

to gain an estimated projectile path does not require complex knowledge and understanding. Officer Dail testified that he received training on the use of trajectory rods through the sheriff's office and that he had performed the procedure multiple times. R. 71, 79. Thus even if he should have been qualified as an expert, Riser was not prejudiced because Dail was in fact qualified.

Riser cites Hamrick v. State, 426 S.C. 647, 828 S.E.2d 601 (2019), to support his argument that the trial court erred by allowing the testimony. However, this case is nothing like Hamrick, which concerned testimony about automobile accident reconstruction. The Wallace court cited Hamrick as an example of “more complex technical or specialized knowledge,” noting the accident reconstruction at issue in Hamrick was “a highly technical and specialized field in which experts employ principles of engineering, physics, and other knowledge” Wallace, 440 S.C. at 544, 892 S.E.2d at 314. Riser also cites Smith v. Phillips, 430 S.C. 319, 844 S.E.2d 651 (2020), which concerned the admission of DNA evidence. Needless to say, DNA analysis is based on scientific principles exponentially more complex than the simple testimony in this case about trajectory rods.

Riser further argues the evidence should have been excluded under Rule 403, SCRE, and that the trial court failed to conduct an on-the-record balancing test. Contrary to Riser's argument, the photographs of the crime scene were highly probative because they corroborated the victim's story that Riser shot her in the laundry room and continued shooting at her as she fled the apartment. See State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 27 (2014) (explaining if a photograph

corroborates other testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it). There was nothing confusing or misleading about the pictures or Dail's testimony.

The trial court was not required to make specific findings on the record regarding his balancing of prejudice and probative value. All that is required is that "the trial court—when ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence—must think through the objection that has been made, the arguments of the attorneys, and the law—particularly the applicable evidentiary rules—and must thoughtfully apply the correct law to the information and evidence before it." Wallace, 440 S.C. at 543, 892 S.E.2d at 313. If "the record reflects the trial court 'exercis[ed] its discretion according to law,' [the appellate court] will almost always affirm the ruling." Id. (quoting Morris v. BB&T Corp., 438 S.C. 582, 587, 885 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2023)).

Finally, any error was harmless. The testimony was not prejudicial when viewed in the context of the record as a whole. See State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 448, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011) ("No definite rule of law governs [a finding of harmless error]; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial."). The trajectory rods proved very little in terms of contested facts. After Dail testified about his placement of the projectile rods, it was never mentioned again by other witnesses or in the closing arguments. While the photographs of the rods were helpful for the jury to understand the crime scene, they did not go to the ultimate question: the identity of

the person who fired the bullets. As defense counsel conceded, somebody shot the victim. R. 356. Riser's defense was essentially a general denial and an argument that the State had not met its burden of proof. Riser argued in closing that the victim was "an admitted liar," and disputed her testimony. R. 354. But he did not claim self-defense or offer any alternate version of events. The case still came down to whether the jury believed Shae's testimony and the other substantial evidence conclusively showing Riser was the shooter. See State v. Phillips, 430 S.C. 319, 341, 844 S.E.2d 651, 662-663 (2020) ("An insubstantial error not affecting the result of a trial is harmless when guilt has been conclusively proven by evidence that no other rational conclusion can be made."). The exact trajectory of the bullets was not important to the case and could not reasonably have affected the result of trial. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION